Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

5-12-2017

In re SRBA Case No. 39576 Appellant's Brief Dckt. 44636

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

This case marks the progression of Snake River Basin Adjudication Court ("SRBA")

Basin-Wide Issue No. 17 ("BWI-17"), and this Court's decision on appeal in the same. *A&B Irr*. *Dist. v. State (In Re SRBA)*, 157 Idaho 385, 336 P.3d 792 (2014). It seeks answer to the question of what effect, if any, flood control releases from on-stream reservoirs operated for the dual purposes of flood control and beneficial use (*i.e.*, irrigation) storage have on the existing storage rights for Deadwood and Cascade Reservoirs (the "Reservoirs") in the Payette River Basin (Administrative Basin 65).

This Court previously characterized the "flood control" effect question as one of "first impression," and one that it would not address absent a more developed record. *A&B Irr. Dist.*, 1570 Idaho at 392, 336 P.3d at 799. That record was developed in the context of SRBA late claims proceedings, though the question remains unanswered to this point for the reasons discussed herein.

This matter does not involve an advisory opinion—there is no future-looking hypothetical. Instead, the answer will determine whether water users, such as the patrons of BCID, possess a protectable priority-based property right in storage water that the United States Bureau of Reclamation ("BOR" or "United States") has stored and released for end irrigation use for decades. Answering the question will also dictate how (or whether) BCID can obtain the

protectable property right it thought it had for decades, adjudicated twice over through the Payette River Adjudication and the subsequent Snake River Basin Adjudication.¹

The State of Idaho (and IDWR's) "store it or lose it" paradigm is absurd and lacks common sense—that flood control releases benefitting the public at large is the irrigators' water flowing downstream during a time of year when they cannot use it, or when they have no need for it. The diversion and use of water prior to 1971 gives rise to and perfects a protectable, priority-based property interest. The water BCID and others depend on is not stored and used on a whim, nor is it stored and used under some amorphous policy directive of the State or IDWR.

Instead, the post-flood control release water that BOR has stored, and BCID has used for decades, is stored and used under authority of the existing storage rights for Deadwood and Cascade Reservoirs. Under federal "spill and fill" flood control operations, the water ultimately stored for end beneficial use is that stored and physically present in the Reservoirs at the point of maximum physical fill—that stored in reservoir space that becomes legally and physically available for beneficial use storage after regulation and bypass of peak flood flows as the flood risk wanes.

B. Course of Proceedings

The case comes to the Court via late claims proceedings in the SRBA culminating in the SRBA's Memorandum Decision and Order on Challenges; Final Order Disallowing Water Right Claims ("Challenge MDO") (October 7, 2016). R. 002509.² The United States initiated the late claims proceedings by filing Standard Form 4 Motions to File Late Notices of Claim

¹ The same flood control effect question is also pending before this Court with respect to the Boise River Basin (Basin 63), in Docket Nos. 44677, 44745, and 44746.

² The Record on Appeal appears to contain duplicate Bates or page identification numbers. For example, this citation appears as: "002509002509." From here on BCID will cite only the substantive number, omitting duplicate digits and zeros (*i.e.*, R. 2509).

("SF4 Motions") with the SRBA on January 31, 2013, during the pendency of the BWI-17 proceedings. R. 32; 2585.³

The United States filed the late claims hedging against legal positions taken by the State of Idaho and others during the context of the BWI-17 proceedings, namely that flood control releases negatively impacted its (BOR's) storage water rights. R. 18-21. Assuming a worst case scenario (*i.e.*, that the State and others' legal theories ultimately proved correct on appeal during the BWI-17 proceedings), the United States filed the late claims to preserve the ability to complete one physical fill of its reservoirs in flood control years:

The Notices of Claim are for supplemental beneficial use storage water rights—separate water rights with a junior priority—which, in conjunction with existing storage water rights, would allow Reclamation to complete one physical fill of its reservoirs in years when it must release stored water for flood control . . . The need for "refill" of a reservoir arises when water previously diverted into storage is vacated from the reservoir for flood control purposes rather than being delivered for beneficial use. In essence, "refill" water serves to replace that vacated.

. . .

In BWI 17, the United States joined with the Petitioners to assert a right to priority refill. The State, [Suez] and the Upper Valley Water Users have all argued that the Petitioners are seeking an improper enlargement of reservoir storage rights . . . Under their theory, all water entering a reservoir is considered diverted, including that released for flood control, with the result that releasing water for flood control can leave a reservoir full "on paper" but not physically full. Those parties argue that because the storage water right has been "filled," the storage of additional water under priority enlarges the quantity element of the water right . . . Consistent with those arguments, the proposed late claims seek a separate, supplemental water right with a junior priority which would allow Reclamation to complete one physical fill of its reservoirs in years when stored water is vacated for flood control.

R. 18-20 (citations omitted). The United States further made clear that if the Petitioners' shared priority refill contentions proved correct (*i.e.*, that the BOR's existing storage rights already

³ The United States sought leave of the SRBA to file late claims in multiple basins: Basin Nos. 01 (Upper Snake River), 37 (Big Wood River), 63 (Boise River), and 65 (Payette River).

authorized one physical fill of the reservoirs during flood control years), it would withdraw its proposed late claims as unnecessary and duplicative of the existing storage rights. R. 22, n. 7

The SRBA granted the United States' SF4 Motions noting that they complied with all applicable procedural requirements, and further noting that no one objected to the same. R. 41. The late notices of claim were forwarded to IDWR for further investigation and recommendation in the form of a *Director's Report*. R. 44; 2594. IDWR recommended the claims be disallowed for failure to claim them in a prior general stream adjudication (the Payette Adjudication). *Id*.

The United States timely objected to the *Director's Report* recommendations for the reasons explained in its SF4 Motions. R. 52; 2602. The State of Idaho filed a check-the-box Standard Form 2 Response to the pending objections. R. 56; 2606. The United States' objection triggered referral of the water right subcases to SRBA Special Master Theodore R. Booth, who was directed to "conduct all proceedings necessary" to issue a water right recommendation to SRBA Presiding Judge Eric Wildman. R. 129; 2611 (emphasis added).

After the BWI-17 proceedings failed to resolve the flood control effect question, and after the United States' late claims impugned the integrity of the existing storage water rights in Deadwood and Cascade Reservoirs (among others in other basins), BCID intervened in the Basin 65 late claims proceedings. R. 137; 147; 155; and 158. BCID shared the United States' position that the late claims should be disallowed because the existing storage rights for the Reservoirs already authorized one physical fill (or priority refill) of the Reservoirs during flood control years. R. 160-162. In the alternative, BCID also defended the late claims if they proved necessary to preserve one physical fill of the Reservoirs during flood control years. *Id*.

On August 25, 2015, the State of Idaho filed a motion for summary judgment seeking disallowance of the pending late claims on a variety of grounds. R. 1571. BCID and the United

States each opposed the State's motion. R. 1871 and 1903, respectively. BCID further advanced its own claim for summary judgment as the non-moving party in the context of the State's motion. See, e.g., R. 1900; 430-431; 2358-2360; and 2209-2210. Like the State, BCID also sought disallowance of the pending late claims. Unlike the State, BCID sought disallowance of the late claims on the grounds that the water sought to be appropriated by them was already appropriated and used under the existing storage rights for the Reservoirs. See, e.g., R. 2258-66.

On November 19, 2015, Special Master Booth issued a decision granting in part and dismissing in part the State's motion for summary judgment. R. 1984. The decision granted the State's motion for summary judgment insofar as the late claims should be disallowed because they were precluded by operation of the prior Payette Adjudication. The decision dismissed the remainder of the State's summary judgment claims as moot, and also dismissed BCID's opposing claim for summary judgment on the same *res judicata* grounds. R. 1992-99.

BCID, the United States, and the State each filed motions seeking to alter or amend Special Master Booth's November 2015 decision. *See* R. 2033; 2070; and 2057, respectively. BCID contended that the late claims, if necessary, were not barred by operation of the prior (1986) Payette Adjudication, and that through the provision of additional evidence the late claims should be disallowed because they sought the appropriation of water already appropriated by the existing storage rights for the (*i.e.*, the late claims were not necessary to refill the reservoirs post-flood control releases because one physical fill was already authorized by the existing storage rights). R. 2033; 2139.

On April 22, 2016, Special Master Booth granted in part and denied in part BCID's motion to alter or amend. R. 2206. Special Master Booth ultimately concluded that the pending late claims continued to be barred by operation of the prior Payette Adjudication and its resulting

prior decree. R. 2211-15. However, Special Master Booth further held, consistent with BCID's arguments, that the late claims should be disallowed on the additional basis that the water claimed by them was not subject to appropriation because it "had already been appropriated through the existing storage rights" for the Reservoirs (*i.e.*, the late claims were not necessary because the existing storage rights already authorized one physical fill of the reservoirs despite flood control releases in flood control years). R. 2215-2216; 2221.

Special Master Booth's dual bases for claim disallowance: (1) preclusive effect of the Payette Adjudication; and (2) the water claimed was already appropriated by the existing storage rights were subsequently "appealed" by the parties to SRBA Presiding Judge Wildman through the SRBA's Notice of Challenge procedures (Administrative Order 1, § 13). BCID and the United States continued to take issue with the Special Master's "preclusive effect" holding, and the State disagreed with the Special Master's additional/alternative "already appropriated" holding. R. 2234; 2231; and 2242, respectively.

After briefing and oral argument, the Presiding Judge issued his Challenge MDO (R. 2509) and companion *Final Order Disallowing Water Right Claims* (*id.*) on October 7, 2016. He adopted Special Master Booth's "preclusive effect" holding, but rejected his "already appropriated" holding on the grounds that the Special Master exceeded his authority (and, therefore, the jurisdiction of the SRBA) by "revisiting" and interpreting the existing storage rights against the backdrop of BCID's arguments. R. 2511-20.4

⁴ The Presiding Judge did not expressly refute the substance of Special Master Booth's "already appropriated" holding; rather, he did not address them out of jurisdictional concerns. R. 2518-20. However, his repeated cross-referencing and incorporation of his decision in the Basin 63 proceedings seemingly foreshadow any substantive rulings he would make in these Basin 65 proceedings. *Id.*

BCID and the United States timely appealed the SRBA decision through separate notices of appeal filed on November 17, 2016. R. 2564 and 2556, respectively.

C. Statement of Facts

Deadwood and Cascade Reservoirs are owned and operated by the BOR. R. 1807.

Deadwood Reservoir is located on the Deadwood River in the South Fork of the Payette drainage and is the older and much smaller of the Reservoirs. R. 503. Cascade Reservoir is located on the Middle Fork of the Payette River and regulates flows in the much larger Middle and North Fork Payette drainages. R. 1808 (¶ 3); 1814.

Though owned and operated by BOR, the Reservoirs retain and store water predominantly for supplemental irrigation water supply for a variety of water user entities, including BCID. R. 1802; 1807; 1832; 1838. Because of the relatively junior priorities of BCID's natural flow water rights, BCID is particularly dependent on stored water supplies; so much so that BCID entered into a "special contractual arrangement" with BOR to secure for itself the first 125,000 acre-feet (or 125 kAF) of storage water stored in Cascade Reservoir. R. 559 (20:1-22; 46:12-18). For this important contractual preference, BCID pays the United States double the capital construction reimbursement rate and double the ongoing O&M charges of other reservoir space holders. *Id.*

Similar to the BOR reservoirs in the Boise River Basin, the Payette Basin Reservoirs serve the dual purposes of flood control and beneficial use storage. R. 1808-09 (¶¶ 4-6); 1985-88; 1989-92. While the Boise River Basin reservoirs serve flood control under the federal Flood Control Act of 1944, the Payette Basin Reservoirs do so under federal Reclamation Law provisions (Sections 9(a) and 9(b) of the Reclamation Project Act of 1939). R. 1808-11 (¶¶ 4-11). The difference between the federal flood control authorizations is one of cost reimbursement. R. 1808 (¶ 4). Operationally, both sets of reservoirs in both basins perform their

dual flood control and beneficial use storage purposes pursuant to forecast-based flood control rule curves. R. 1808-11 (¶¶ 4-11); 1985-88; 1989-92.

The flood control "rule curves" determine how much flood control space must be left open or made available in the reservoirs to accommodate, regulate, and mitigate snowpack runoff in order to meet downstream flow targets at various locations on the Boise and Payette Rivers. *Id.* The primary flood control flow target on the Payette River is 12,000 cubic feet per second ("cfs") at Horseshoe Bend, Idaho which, in turn, provides relief for communities farther downstream. *Id.*

Reservoir space required to be vacant under the rule curves is not physically or legally available to store water for end beneficial use. *Id.* Consequently, Reservoir inflows that must be bypassed through the Reservoirs and previously stored water that must be released from the Reservoirs (if such releases are necessary to maintain curve parameters) is not legally or physically available for end irrigation use. *Id.*

During flood control years some portion (or potentially all in particularly high runoff years like is currently being experienced in the Boise River Basin) of the water ultimately stored and retained for end beneficial use (*i.e.*, irrigation) is "second-in" water—that which is stored and retained after the flood risk wanes and flood control space is less/no longer necessary. *Id.*, see also, R. 1802; 1832; 1838. Thus, during flood control years, some portion of the storage water used for end irrigation use is the second-in water that is physically present in the Reservoirs at the point of maximum physical fill (the point at which downstream senior water right demand meets and exceeds Reservoir inflows, requiring the inflows to be bypassed through the Reservoirs for delivery downstream). *Id.*

In shorthand, many refer to the flood control operational regime as "spill and fill"—regulate and "spill" peak flood flows at a controlled rate to prevent downstream flooding to the extent possible, and then "fill" the vacant reservoir space with the remaining flood flows as they wane and it is safe to do so. The converse operational regime is "fill and spill"—fill the Reservoirs to their maximum capacity as soon as possible and allow flood flows to ride over the top and spill in a virtually uncontrolled and unregulated fashion come what may downstream.

The Reservoirs have been operated in this dual purpose, rule curve-based flood control fashion (*i.e.*, "spill and fill") since at least 1957. R. 1809 (¶ 7). The Payette Basin rule curves were updated in 1974; further refined under the National Environmental Policy Act (through a federal Environmental Assessment and public comment) in 1995; and further operationally (and Congressionally) engrafted into the pivotal anadromous fish flow augmentation provisions of the landmark Nez Perce Water Rights Settlement Act of 2004 (the Snake River Water Rights Act of 2004, Pub. L. No. 108-447, 118 Stat. 3431-41 (Dec. 8, 2004)). R. 1809-11 (¶ 6-11).

In addition to the Reservoirs' federal law-based flood control underpinnings, the State of Idaho benefits from, recognizes, and relies upon, spill and fill operations. For example, the State's legislatively ratified Comprehensive State Water Plan for the Payette River Basin ("Plan," adopted February 5, 1999) acknowledged and codified the Reservoirs' spill and fill operations. IDAHO CODE §§ 42-1734A, 42-1734B, and 42-1734C. The Plan identified recurrent flooding concerns given the relatively flat topography of the valley floor (where only 2 to 5 feet of overbank depth would cause damage). R. 1750-76. The Plan discussed the basin's ongoing need for, and benefits from, Reservoir flood control operations (including the 12,000 cfs flow target at Horseshoe Bend, Idaho). *Id.* The Plan acknowledged that the Reservoirs "provide the only major flood control for the Payette watershed," and fretted the fact that the Reservoirs can

only regulate flows from approximately 35% of the basin. *Id.* Finally, the Plan acknowledged and endorsed the balancing act of dual purpose Reservoir operations, noting the "refilling" of the Reservoirs as the flood risk wanes. *Id.*

Likewise, IDWR acknowledges the water users' dependence on the "historic practice" of back-filling flood control space to yield the supplemental irrigation water supplies that are crucial to Idaho's agriculturally-dominated economy. R. 2006-07; 2012. IDWR calls the Reservoirs' spill and fill operations the "status quo" in the basin, a process by which waning flood flows are used to refill "irrigation storage space that has been vacated for flood control or other purposes." R. 2012.

To the extent there was ever an administrative shift in the basin (one away from physical contents-based operations at the point of maximum physical fill to one "paper" fill-based, where water accrued to the reservoir rights regardless of whether the water was physically stored), that shift occurred no earlier than 1992/93. R. 559 (Gregg Depo. at 54:11-56:3; 59:4-23; 79:7-10; and 83:6-12: explaining that the Payette Basin was largely unregulated and operated on a physical contents/maximum physical fill basis until the early 1990s because no administrative water district above Black Canyon Dam near Emmett, Idaho existed, and because river gauges needed to support IDWR's "paper fill"-based accounting construct had yet to be installed); R. 590 (Gregg Depo. Exs. 5 and 6, p. 3: memos from IDWR personnel Sutter (1993) and Tuthill (1994), respectively, announcing the importation of "paper fill"-based accounting, and describing the same as one of "many changes" and a "new procedure"); R. 1537 and 1551 (State of Idaho concessions of the importation of computerized / "paper fill"-based water right accounting in 1992/93); R. 1802 (Lammey Aff., ¶¶ 2, 4-7: confirming pre-1971 "spill and fill" and physical contents-based reservoir operations, storage, delivery, and end irrigation use);

R. 1807 (Gregg Aff., ¶ 5: confirming the advent of "spill and fill" flood control operations in the Payette Basin beginning in 1957); R. 2046 (past BCID briefing and citations discussing these matters); and R. 2212-14 (Special Master Booth decision confirming these matters).

This matter comes before this Court not because the parties dispute the foregoing facts. The operational hydrograph is undeniable (*i.e.*, during flood control years some portion of storage water ultimately retained, stored, and delivered for end beneficial use is water captured and retained after peak flood flows are bypassed and regulated to prevent downstream property damage).⁵ Rather, the dispute arises over the nature of the legal entitlement to capture and use those waning flood flows. The United States and BCID contend the existing storage rights for the Reservoirs provide the requisite (and priority-protectable) legal entitlement. The State and IDWR contend otherwise.

II. ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

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