Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

6-9-2017

In re SRBA Case No. 39576 Respondent's Brief Dckt. 44636

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

III. ARGUMENT

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

BCID appealed from the District Court's *Challenge Order*, in which the District Court reviewed the Special Master's summary judgment decision. Thus, the summary judgment

¹³ The Watermaster also wrote that he was "in direct agreement with the State of Idaho's water right accounting and storage accounting methods because they properly apply the Prior Appropriations Doctrine, they properly administer the water rights, and the methods encourage the efficient operation of a basin with a storage system." R.2171.

standard of the Idaho Rules of Civil Procedure is also the standard of review in this appeal. Wyman v. Eck, 161 Idaho 723, 390 P.3d 449, 451 (2017). "Summary judgment is proper 'if the pleadings, depositions, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.' I.R.C.P. 56(c)." Id. "This Court liberally construes all disputed facts in favor of the non-moving party and draws all reasonable inferences and conclusions supported by the record in favor of the party opposing the motion. Id.

B. THE LATE CLAIMS ARE BARRED BY THE *PAYETTE DECREE* AND THE DOCTRINE OF *RES JUDICATA*.

The District Court concluded that the Late Claims "are barred by operation of the final judgment entered in the Payette Adjudication and principles of *res judicata*." R.2511 (italics in original; bold font omitted). The District Court was correct.

1. The Payette Decree Bars The Late Claims.

The *Payette Decree* "ordered, adjudged and decreed" that with limited exceptions, the water rights of the Payette River Basin "are as described" in IDWR's "Proposed Finding of Water Rights Water Rights in the Payette River Drainage Basin" ("*Proposed Finding*"), as it had been amended by certain listed stipulations and orders. R.450, 452. The *Proposed Finding* included recommendations for "findings of fact, conclusions of law and decree of water rights," R. 518, 450, listed individual water rights to be decreed, *see* R.528-31, 533-34 (excerpts of list), and included the following provision:

This recommended decree includes all of the rights established before October 19, 1977 to the waters of the Payette River and its tributaries including groundwater, and upon its adoption supercedes all prior judgments of the Court. Any water user who heretofore diverted surface water or groundwater from within the boundaries as described in Exhibit 1, or who owns lands to which previously established rights were appurtenant and who, upon being joined to this action,

failed to claim such water rights has forfeited such rights as provided in Section 42-1411, Idaho Code.

R.2512 (quoting *Proposed Finding*) (italics and underlining in *Memorandum Decision and Order*); see also R. 524 (*Proposed Finding*). The *Payette Decree* also listed the "exceptions," R.452, 2512—that is, the only claims that remained to be resolved—in "Exhibits" attached to the decree. R.455-86.¹⁴ "Of significance, the partial decree was certified by Judge Doolittle as a final judgment." R.2513.

As both the Special Master and the District Court concluded, the language of the *Payette Decree* is "plain and unambiguous," and compels three conclusions. R.2513. First, the *Payette Decree* is a "final judgment" and "conclusively establishes a list of *all* rights on the system established before October 19, 1977." *Id.* (italics in original). Second, the final judgment "extinguishes the claims of any water right holder who, being joined to the action, failed to claim a water right he asserts was established prior to that date." *Id.* And finally, "the late claims now asserted, if they were ever valid, were extinguished by operation of the plain language of the final judgment." *Id.* ¹⁵

2. The Doctrine of Res Judicata Precludes The Late Claims.

The District Court was also correct in concluding the Late Claims are barred by *res judicata* principles. R.2514-17. *Res Judicata* "bars a subsequent action between the same parties upon the same claim" or "claims 'relating to the same cause of action . . . which might have been made" in prior litigation. *Maravilla v. J.R. Simplot Co.*, 161 Idaho 455, 458, 387 P.3d 123, 126 (2016) (citation omitted; ellipses in original)). Claims are precluded when the prior

¹⁴ The Exhibits do not include claims for the beneficial use-based water rights asserted by the Late Claims. R.455-86; R.2512-13; *US Brief* at 13-14.

¹⁵ In contrast to the United States, BCID concedes the *Payette Decree* incorporated the *Proposed Finding*, and does not contend the *Payette Decree* lacked independent preclusive effect. *BCID Brief* at 30-31; see US Brief at 24 ("no independent preclusive effect").

action involved (1) the same parties, (2) the same claim, and (3) a final judgment. *Id.* The parties are the same in this case because "each party to the Payette Adjudication is also a party to the SRBA," R. 2514, and the "final judgment" requirement is satisfied because the *Payette Decree* was certified as a "final judgment." R.2513, 453, 489.

This leaves the second element: "the same claim." While the United States did not file Payette Adjudication claims for the water rights asserted by the Late Claims, such claims clearly could have and should have been filed—which satisfies the "same claim" element. See Maravilla, 161 Idaho at 459, 387 P.3d at 127 ("whether claims are the same for purposes of res judicata is that the subsequent or present claim must be one that arose out of the same cause of action and should have been litigated in the first suit."). The Late Claims assert "Beneficial Use" as the "Basis of Claim" and September 30, 1965" as the "Date of Priority." R.38-39, 2591-92. By definition, therefore, the Late Claims assert the existence of water rights based on actual diversion and beneficial use of water on or before September 30, 1965. See City of Pocatello v. Idaho, 152 Idaho 830, 841, 275 P.3d 845, 856 (2012) ("When one diverts unappropriated water [under the constitutional method] and applies it to beneficial use, the 'right dates from the application of the water to a beneficial use."") (citation omitted).

It follows that late claims could and should have been claimed in the *Payette Adjudication*, which commenced in 1969. Indeed, the United States was <u>obligated</u> to bring the Late Claims forward in the Payette Adjudication, because it was a general stream adjudication.

See R.2514 ("had a full and fair opportunity (indeed an obligation) to timely assert its water right claims . . . in that proceeding.") (parenthetical in original). The Late Claims are therefore barred by principles of *res judicata*. *Maravilla*, 161 Idaho at 458, 387 P.3d at 126 ("Claim preclusion bars a subsequent action between the same parties upon the same claim or upon claims 'relating

to the same cause of action . . . which might have been made."") (citation omitted) (ellipses in original); see also R.2517 ("Claimants failing to have their water right or a portion of their water right adjudicated in the prior adjudication are barred from seeking redress in the SRBA."); R.445 ("The SRBA cannot serve as a second opportunity for parties and their successors-in-interest to re-adjudicate their prior decreed or disallowed water rights.").

C. BCID'S INTERPRETATION OF FORMER IDAHO CODE § 42-1411 IS CONTRARY TO THE PLAIN LANGUAGE OF THE STATUTE AND WOULD UNDERMINE THE FINALITY OF WATER RIGHT DECREES.

BCID argues the *Payette Decree* does not bar the Late Claims because the preclusion and forfeiture provisions of the statute it referenced, former Idaho Code § 42-1411, applied only to water users "who utterly failed to appear and submit evidence of their claimed water use." *BCID Brief* at 32. This is not what the statute said, however.

Rather, the statute provided that it applied to "any water user who has been joined and failed to appear and submit proof of his claim." Idaho Code § 42-1411 (1969) (underlining added). The requirement, in other words, was for each water user joined to a general stream adjudication to appear and submit proof on each and every potential claim. Consequently, all potential claims of water users joined to an adjudication for which no filing was made or no proof submitted were "barred" and "forfeited," *id.*, or "extinguished," as the District Court put it. R. 2513. The language of the *Payette Decree* confirms this interpretation: "[a]ny water user who heretofore diverted surface water . . . and who, upon being joined to this action, failed to claim such water rights has forfeited such rights as provided in Section 42-1411, Idaho Code." R. 2512, 524 (first underlining added; second underlining in original). The United States was joined but failed to file claims for the water rights subsequently asserted in the Late Claims, and

STATE OF IDAHO'S RESPONSE BRIEF - PAGE 15

¹⁶ ADDENDUM, Tab B.

therefore was "amongst the class of water users" subject to the preclusion and forfeiture provisions of former Idaho Code § 42-1411. *BCID Brief* at 31.

Moreover, BCID's alternative interpretation of former Idaho Code § 42-1411 is implausible because it would undermine the finality of a general stream adjudication. This Court has held that "[f]inality in water rights is essential." *IGWA v. IDWR*, 160 Idaho 119, 128, 369 P.3d 897, 906 (2016) (citation omitted). Indeed, the District Court held that finality is the "fundamental" and "core" purpose of a general stream adjudication proceeding under Idaho law:

The fundamental purpose of a general adjudication is to produce a judicial decree that is conclusive as to the nature and extent of all water rights in the adjudicated water system. See, e.g., I.C. § 42-1420(1); I.C. § 42-1401A(5); I.C. § 42-1411 (1969). Finality is essential. The core purpose of undertaking a general adjudication is defeated if, after adjudication concludes, claimants can assert additional water rights premised on water uses predating the adjudication.

R. 2515.

BCID's interpretation of former Idaho Code § 42-1411 assumes the Legislature intended that no general stream adjudication would ever be final or conclusive as the parties who actually did appear and submit proof on any claim. Rather, they would be allowed to make an unlimited number of additional claims into the future, simply by alleging new evidence had been discovered or by offering novel argument or a new legal theory. This would undermine the "fundamental" and "core" purpose of a general stream adjudication. R. 2515. BCID's interpretation of former Idaho Code § 42-1411 must therefore be rejected as a matter of law. *See The David & Marvel Benton Trust v. McCarty*, 161 Idaho 145, 384 P.3d 392, 398 (2016) ("This Court will not read a statute to create an absurd result."). ¹⁷

¹⁷ The parties to the Payette Adjudication clearly did not have BCID's view that they would be free to file additional claims in the future. The *Payette Decree* included an exhaustive list of the "contested" claims that remained pending, and also listed the stipulations and orders deemed to have "amended" the Proposed Finding—including a stipulation resolving the United States' objection the Proposed Finding. R. 452-52, 455-86. There would have been no reason to identify these "exceptions" and "amendments" had the district judge (Judge Jim R. Doolittle) and the

Further, the record contradicts BCID's assertion that the District Court's finality concerns were "unfounded." *BCID Brief* at 33. To the contrary, as the District Court said in the hearing on the parties' challenges to the Special Master's recommendations, it is not unusual to have situations where historic administration was "in a certain way and nobody has brought it up in the SRBA" and "the rights go to decree." Tr., Sep. 22, 2016, p.25, 1.9-10. And then later "that water users says, hey, wait a minute, I'm not getting—the water isn't being administered the way it's historically been administered, but there's nothing in the decree that memorializes that." *Id.*, 1.14-18. In fact, the District Court said, "this happens a lot." *Id.*, 1.8. The District Court's finality concerns were indeed well founded—and based on first-hand experience.

D. THE LATE CLAIMS WERE RIPE IN 1969 AND COULD HAVE BEEN ASSERTED IN THE PAYETTE ADJUDICATION.

BCID argues that *res judicata* does not bar the Late Claims because of two "exceptions" to the doctrine: "(1) the might have and should litigated exception; and (2) the new facts/ripeness exception." *BCID Brief* at 35. BCID argues that "both exceptions apply in this case." *Id.* at 37. These are <u>not</u> "exceptions" to the doctrine of *res judicata*. Rather the so-called "exceptions" are simply two different ways of expressing the basic principle that claim preclusion applies when claims could have and should have been asserted in prior litigation. But regardless of the label applied to it, this legal principle does not rescue the Late Claims.

As the District Court recognized, the "exceptions" BCID identifies reduce to assertions that the Late Claims were "not ripe" at the time of the Payette Adjudication. R.2516 (citing *U.S. Bank Nat'l Assn. v. Kuenzli*, 134 Idaho 222, 226, 999 P.2d 877, 881 (2000)). That is not true. R.2516. The Late Claims speak for themselves and explicitly assert that the claimed beneficial

parties viewed the *Payette Decree* and former Idaho Code 42-1411 as having no preclusive effect on the parties who actually had made appearances.

use took place no later than September 30, 1965.¹⁸ R. 38-39, 2591-92. It should go without saying that a claim to a water right based on actual beneficial use alleged to have occurred in 1965 could have been filed in the Payette Adjudication, which did not commence until four year later. R.2512. As the District Court stated, "[by] their very nature" the Late Claims were ripe in 1969:

[T]he beneficial use late claims were ripe at the time of the Payette Adjudication. The late claims reflect claims for 1965 priority date storage water rights based on beneficial use. By their very nature, the claims assert that the United States has diverted and beneficially used the claimed water since 1965. If the late claims can be proven up now to have been established in 1965 based on diversion and beneficial use dating back to that date, they could have been proven up based on the same diversion and beneficial use in the Payette Adjudication. R.2516.

This fact is not altered by BCID's contention that it was a "chronological impossibility" to challenge in the Payette Adjudication a system water distribution accounting that was not adopted until 1992-93. *BCID Brief* at 38. To the contrary, the "impossibility" of challenging IDWR's accounting methods at the time of the Payette Adjudication simply confirms that the Water District 65 accounting system has nothing to do with the Late Claims. By definition, a water right claimed under the constitutional method of appropriation cannot be based on events occurring after 1971. *See Joyce Livestock Co. v. United States*, 144 Idaho 1, 7, 156 P.3d 502, 508 (2007) ("new appropriations could not be made under the constitutional method after 1971") (citation omitted); *Pioneer Irr. Dist.*, 144 Idaho at 110, 157 P.3d at 604 ("Since 1971 a party seeking a surface water right must file an application with the IDWR, obtain a permit, and perfect that right by obtaining a license.").

¹⁸ By definition, the priority date of a beneficial use claim is the date when actual beneficial use is claimed to have occurred. See City of Pocatello, 152 Idaho at 841, 275 P.3d at 856 ("When one diverts unappropriated water and applies it to a beneficial use, the 'right dates from the application of the water to a beneficial use.""); Pioneer Irr. Dist., 144 Idaho at 110, 157 P.3d at 604 ("Under the constitutional method of appropriation, appropriation is completed upon application of the water to the beneficial use for which the water is appropriated.").

Further, beneficial use water right claims cannot be based on administration by IDWR because they "focus[] purely on the actions of the appropriator." *Idaho Power Co. v. IDWR*, 151 Idaho 266, 275, 255 P.3d 1152, 1161 (2011). The claimant has the burden of proving "with definite evidence" rather than "speculation" that the claimed beneficial use actually took place in the year claimed. *City of Pocatello*, 152 Idaho at 841-42, 275 P.3d at 856-57. The evidence must be sufficient to enable a court to make "definite and certain findings as to the amount of water actually diverted and applied" to the claimed beneficial use (prior to 1971). *Head v. Merrick*, 69 Idaho 106, 109, 203 P.2d 608, 609 (1949).

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